

River Forest District 90
PRESS Policy Update Issue 111 – March, 2023

First Reading – June 20, 2023

Policy Number	Policy Description	Recommended Action
2:110	Qualifications, Term, and Duties of Board Officers	Recommend adoption as presented
4:40	Incurring Debt	Recommend updating the adoption date
4:60	Purchases and Contracts	Recommend adoption as presented
5:30	Hiring Process and Criteria	Recommend adoption as presented
5:90	Abused and Neglected Child Reporting	Recommend adoption as presented
5:125	Personal Technology and Social Media; Usage and Conduct	Recommend adoption with edits
5:150	Personal Records	Recommend adoption as presented
5:260	Student Teachers	Recommend adoption as presented
6:135	Accelerated Placement Program	Recommend adoption as amended
6:210	Instructional Materials	Recommend adoption as presented
6:230	Library Media Program	Recommend adoption with edits*
7:70	Attendance and Truancy	Recommend adoption as presented
8:20	Community Use of School Facilities	Recommend adoption as presented
8:70	Accommodating Individuals with Disabilities	Recommend adoption as presented

*Discuss ALA Principles

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 2 - BOARD OF EDUCATION

2:110 Qualifications, Term, and Duties of Board Officers

The Board of Education officers are: President, Vice President, and Secretary. These officers are elected or appointed by the Board at its organizational meeting.

President

The Board of Education elects a President from its members for a two-year term. The duties of the President are:

1. Preside at all meetings;
2. Focus the Board meeting agendas on appropriate content;
3. Make all Board committee appointments;
4. Be a member of all Board committees;
5. Represent the Board on other boards or agencies;
6. Sign official District documents requiring the President's signature, including Board minutes and Certificate of Tax Levy;
7. Call special meetings of the Board;
8. Serve as the head of the public body for purposes of the Open Meetings Act and Freedom of Information Act;
9. Ensure that a quorum of the Board is physically present at all Board meetings, except as otherwise provided by the Open Meetings Act;
10. Serve as or appoint the Board's official spokesperson to the media;
11. Except when the Board President is the subject of a complaint of sexual harassment, a witness, or otherwise conflicted, appoint a qualified outside investigator to conduct an independent review of allegations of sexual harassment made against a Board member by another Board member or elected official; and
12. Ensure that ~~all the~~ fingerprint-based criminal history records information checks, ~~and/or~~ screenings, and sexual misconduct related employment history reviews (EHRs) PRESSPlus1 required by State law and policy 5:30, *Hiring Process and Criteria*, ~~are~~ is completed for the Superintendent.

The President is permitted to participate in all Board meetings in a manner equal to all other Board members, including the ability to make and second motions.

The Vice President fills a vacancy in the Presidency.

Vice President

The Board of Education elects a Vice President from its members for a two-year term. The Vice President performs the duties of the President if:

- The office of President is vacant;
- The President is absent; or
- The President is unable to perform the office's duties.

A vacancy in the Vice Presidency is filled by special Board election.

Secretary

The Secretary shall be a member of the Board who serves a two-year term. The duties of the Secretary are to:

1. Keep meeting minutes for all Board meetings, and keep the verbatim record for all closed meetings;
2. Keep records of the Board's official acts, and sign them, along with the President, before submitting them to the Treasurer at such times as the Treasurer may require.
3. Act as the local election official for the District;
4. Sign official District documents requiring the Secretary's signature; and
5. Maintain publicity and correspondence.

The Secretary may delegate some or all of these duties, except when State law prohibits the delegation. The Board appoints a secretary pro tempore, who may or may not be a Board member, if the Secretary is absent from any meeting or refuses to perform the duties of the office. A permanent vacancy in the office of Secretary is filled by special Board election.

Township Treasurer

Pursuant to Illinois Statute, the Township Treasurer shall serve as Treasurer for District #90.

The Treasurer shall have custody of all monies belonging to the Board of Education and all other monies under control of the Board and assigned to the Treasurer for safekeeping. The Treasurer shall provide the Board with a monthly financial statement. The Treasurer shall make an annual report to the Board showing all receipts and disbursements for the fiscal year, together with the balances in all funds at the close of the fiscal year.

The Treasurer shall perform all other duties pertaining to the office as prescribed by the laws of the State of Illinois or as directed by the Board of Education.

LEGAL REF.:

~~5 ILCS 120/7 and 420/4A-106.~~

105 ILCS 5/8-1, 5/8-2, 5/8-3, 5/8-6, 5/8-16, 5/8-17, 5/10-1, 5/10-5, 5/10-7, 5/10-8, 5/10-13, 5/10-13.1, 5/10-14, 5/10-16.5, 5/10-21.9, 5/17-1, ~~and 5/21B-85, and 5/22-94.~~

5 ILCS 120/7, Open Meetings Act.

5 ILCS 420/4A-106, Ill. Governmental Ethics Act.

CROSS REF.: 2:80 (Board Member Oath and Conduct), 2:105 (Ethics and Gift Ban), 2:150 (Committees), 2:210 (Organizational Board of Education Meeting), 2:220 (Board of Education Meeting Procedure), 5:30 (Hiring Process and Criteria)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-94, amended by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23, requiring a sexual misconduct related employment history review (EHR) to be initiated prior to hiring an applicant that will have direct contact with children or students. *Direct contact with children or students* is defined as “the possibility of care, supervision, guidance, or control of children or students or routine interaction with children or students.” **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Review and Monitoring

Section 4 - OPERATIONAL SERVICES

4:40 Incurring Debt

The Superintendent or designee shall provide notice during the budget process to the Board of Education of the District's need to borrow money. The Superintendent or designee shall prepare all documents and notices necessary for the Board of Education, at its discretion, to: (1) issue State Aid Anticipation Certificates, tax anticipation warrants, working cash fund bonds, bonds, notes, and other evidence of indebtedness, or (2) establish a line of credit with a bank or other financial institution. The Superintendent shall notify the State Board of Education before the District issues any form of long-term or short-term debt that will result in outstanding debt that exceeds 75% of the debt limit specified in State law. [PRESSPlus1](#)

Bond Issue Obligations

In connection with the Board's issuance of bonds, the Superintendent shall be responsible for ensuring the District's compliance with federal securities laws, including the anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and, if applicable, the continuing disclosure obligations under [Rule 15c2-12](#) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Additionally, in connection with the Board's issuance of bonds, the interest on which is excludable from *gross income* for federal income tax purposes, or which enable the District or bond holder to receive other federal tax benefits, the Board authorizes the Superintendent to establish written procedures for post-issuance compliance monitoring for such bonds to protect their tax-exempt (or tax-advantaged) status.

The Board may contract with outside professionals, such as bond counsel and/or a qualified financial consulting firm, to assist it in meeting the requirements of this subsection.

LEGAL REF.:

Securities Act of 1933, [15 U.S.C. §77a et seq.](#)

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, [15 U.S.C. §78a et seq.](#)

[17 C.F.R. §240.15c2-12.](#)

Bond Authorization Act, [30 ILCS 305/2](#)

Bond Issue Notification Act, [30 ILCS 352/](#)

Local Government Debt Reform Act, [30 ILCS 350/.](#)

Tax Anticipation Note Act, [50 ILCS 420/.](#)

[105 ILCS 5/17-16, 5/17-17, 5/18-18,](#) and [5/19-1 et seq.](#)

CROSS REF.: 4:10 (Fiscal and Business Management)

Adopted: August 20, 2018

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. This policy is suggested to be reviewed by the Board. According to policy 2:240, *Board Policy Development*, "[t]he Board will periodically review its policies for relevancy, monitor its policies for effectiveness, and consider whether any modifications are required." IASB suggests that each policy in the Board's policy manual be reviewed at a minimum of every five years. As part of the review, the Board may choose to:

- Compare the adopted version to the current PRESS sample (available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com), discussing any differences and/or options noted in the footnotes to determine whether local changes are necessary
- Update the policy language due to changes in local conditions
- Make no changes, but update the adoption date to reflect that the policy has been reviewed and re-adopted

Issue 111, March 2023

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 4 - OPERATIONAL SERVICES

4:60 Purchases and Contracts

Adoption of the annual budget authorizes the Business Manager to purchase budgeted supplies, equipment, and services, provided that State law is followed. Purchases of items not included in the budget require prior Board of Education approval, except in an emergency.

When presenting a contract or purchase for Board approval, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that it complies with applicable federal and State law, including but not limited to, those specified below:

1. Supplies, materials, or work involving an expenditure in excess of \$25,000 must comply with the State law bidding procedure, [105 ILCS 5/10-20.21](#), unless specifically exempted.
2. Construction, lease, or purchase of school buildings must comply with State law and Board policy 4:150, *Facility Management and Building Programs*.
3. Guaranteed energy savings must comply with [105 ILCS 5/19b-1 et seq.](#)
4. Third party non-instructional services must comply with [105 ILCS 5/10-22.34c](#).
5. Goods and services that are intended to generate revenue and other remunerations for the District in excess of \$1,000, including without limitation vending machine contracts, sports and other attire, class rings, and photographic services, must comply with [105 ILCS 5/10-20.21](#) (b-5). The Superintendent or designee shall keep a record of: (1) each vendor, product, or service provided, (2) the actual net revenue and non-monetary remuneration from each contract or agreement, and (3) how the revenue was used and to whom the non-monetary remuneration was distributed. The Superintendent or designee shall report this information to the Board by completing the necessary forms that must be attached to the District's annual budget.
6. Any contract to purchase food with a bidder or offeror must comply with [105 ILCS 5/10-20.21](#) (b-10).
7. The purchase of paper and paper products must comply with [105 ILCS 5/10-20.19c](#) and Board policy 4:70, *Resource Conservation*.
8. Each contractor with the District is bound by each of the following:
 - a. In accordance with [105 ILCS 5/10-21.9\(f\)](#): (1) prohibit any of its employees who is or was found guilty of a criminal offense listed in [105 ILCS 5/10-21.9\(c\)](#) and [5/21B-80\(c\)](#) to have direct, daily contact at a District school or school-related activity with one or more student(s); (2) prohibits any of the contractor's employees from having direct, daily contact with one or more students if the employee was found guilty of any offense in [5/21B-80\(b\)](#) (certain drug offenses) until seven years following the end of the employee's sentence for the criminal offense; and (3) require each of its employees who will have direct, daily contact with student(s) to cooperate during the District's fingerprint-based criminal history records check on him or her.
 - b. In accordance with 105 ILCS 5/22-94: (1) prohibit any of its employees from having *direct contact with children or students* if the contractor has not performed a sexual misconduct related employment history review (EHR) of the employee or if the District objects to the employee's assignment based on the employee's involvement in an instance of sexual

misconduct as provided in 105 ILCS 5/22-94(j)(3), which the contractor is required to disclose; (2) discipline, up to and including termination or denial of employment, any employee who provides false information or willfully fails to disclose information required by the EHR; (3) maintain all records of EHRs and provide the District access to such records upon request; and (4) refrain from entering into any agreements prohibited by 105 ILCS 5/22-94(g).[PRESSPlus1](#)

- c. In accordance with 105 ILCS 5/24-5: (1) concerning each new employee of a contractor that provides services to students or in schools, provide the District with evidence of physical fitness to perform the duties assigned and freedom from communicable disease ~~if the employee will have direct, daily contact with one or more student(s);~~ and (2) require any new or existing employee who ~~has and will have direct, daily contact with one or more~~ provides services to student(s) or in schools to complete additional health examinations as required by the District and be subject to additional health examinations, including tuberculosis screening, as required by the Ill. Department of Public Health rules or order of a local health official.
9. ~~After 1-1-23, a~~ Any pavement engineering project using a coal tar-based sealant product or high polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon sealant product for pavement engineering-related use must comply with the Coal Tar Sealant Disclosure Act.
10. Purchases made with federal or State awards must comply with [2 C.F.R. Part 200](#) and [30 ILCS 708/](#), as applicable, and any terms of the award.

The Superintendent or designee shall: (1) execute the reporting and website posting mandates in State law concerning District contracts, and (2) monitor the discharge of contracts, contractors' performances, and the quality and value of services or products being provided.

Whenever practical, informal quotations will be obtained on all other expenditures. Major District procedures and/or project expenditures shall be subject to approval by the Board prior to committing any funds for same.

Requisitions

No employee shall make direct expenditures or purchases, except through the use of petty cash funds, without a properly computed and executed requisition.

LEGAL REF.:

[2 C.F.R. Part 200.](#)

[105 ILCS 5/10-20.19c, 5/10-20.21, 5/10-21.9, 5/10-22.34c, 5/19b-1 et seq., 5/22-94, and 5/24-5.](#)

[30 ILCS 708/](#), Grant Accountability and Transparency Act.

[410 ILCS 170/](#), Coal Tar Sealant Disclosure Act.

[820 ILCS 130/](#), Prevailing Wage Act.

CROSS REF.: 2:100 (Board Member Conflict of Interest), 4:70 (Resource Conservation), 4:150 (Facility Management and Building Programs), 4:175 (Convicted Child Sex Offender; Screening; Notifications), 5:90 (Abused and Neglected Child Reporting)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-94, added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. See 4:60-AP4, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review(EHR) of Contractor Employees*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com.

For the definition of *sexual misconduct*, see 105 ILCS 5/22-85.5(c), added by P.A. 102-676 and policy 5:120, *Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest*.

Direct contact with children or students is defined as “the possibility of care, supervision, guidance, or control of children or students or routine interaction with children or students.” 105 ILCS 5/22-94(b), added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. This standard, which triggers the EHR, appears on its face to be broader than the *direct, daily contact* standard that triggers the *complete criminal history records check* in 105 ILCS 5/10-21.9(f). See 5:30-AP2, *Investigations*, 4:60-AP3, *Criminal History Records Check of Contractor Employees*, and 4:60-AP4, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review(EHR) of Contractor Employees*, for more information. For example, a contracted night custodian who may have some passing, routine interaction with students who are on campus for afterschool events, but does not have direct, daily contact with students triggers an EHR but not necessarily a *complete criminal history records check*. It is less clear if the reverse scenario could arise where a *complete criminal history records check* under 105 ILCS 5/10-21.9(f) would be required but an EHR would not be required. For ease of administration, a district may wish to require contractors to undergo a *complete criminal history records check* whenever the obligation to conduct an EHR is triggered, and vice versa.

105 ILCS 5/22-94(g), added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23, prohibits contractors from entering any agreement that: (1) has the effect of suppressing information concerning a pending or completed investigation in which an allegation of sexual misconduct was substantiated, (2) affects the ability of the contractor to report sexual misconduct to the appropriate authorities, or (3) requires the contractor to expunge information about allegations or findings of suspected sexual misconduct, unless an allegation is found to be false, unfounded, or unsubstantiated following an investigation. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 5 - GENERAL PERSONNEL

5:30 Hiring Process and Criteria

The District hires the most qualified personnel consistent with budget and staffing requirements and in compliance with Board of Education policy on equal employment opportunity and minority recruitment. The Superintendent is responsible for recruiting personnel and making hiring recommendations to the Board. If the Superintendent's recommendation is rejected, the Superintendent must submit another. No individual will be employed who has been convicted of a criminal offense listed in [105 ILCS 5/21B-80\(c\)](#).

All applicants must complete a District application form in order to be considered for employment.

Job Descriptions

The Board maintains the Superintendent's job description and directs, through policy, the Superintendent, in his or her charge of the District's administration.

The Superintendent shall develop and maintain a current comprehensive job description for each position or job category; however, a provision in a collective bargaining agreement or individual contract will control in the event of a conflict.

Investigations

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a fingerprint-based criminal history records check and a check of the Statewide Sex Offender Database and Violent Offender Against Youth Database is performed on each applicant as required by State law. When the applicant is a successful superintendent candidate who has been offered employment by the Board, the Board President shall ensure that these checks are completed. The Superintendent or designee, or if the applicant is a successful superintendent candidate, then the Board President shall notify an applicant if the applicant is identified in either database. The School Code requires the Board President to keep a conviction record confidential and share it only with the Superintendent, appropriate Intermediate Service Center Executive Director, State Superintendent, State Educator Preparation and Licensure Board, any other person necessary to the hiring decision, the Ill. Dept. of State Police and/or Statewide Sex Offender Database for purposes of clarifying the information, and/or the Teachers' Retirement System of the State of Illinois when required by law. The Board reserves its right to authorize additional background inquiries beyond a fingerprint-based criminal history records check when it deems it appropriate to do so, in accordance with applicable laws.

Each newly hired employee must complete a U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services Form as required by federal law.

The District retains the right to discharge any employee whose criminal background investigation reveals a conviction for committing or attempting to commit any of the offenses outlined in [105 ILCS 5/21B-80](#) or who falsifies, or omits facts from, his or her employment application or other employment documents. If an indicated finding of abuse or neglect of a child has been issued by the Ill. Department of Children and Family Services or by a child welfare agency of another jurisdiction for any applicant for student teaching, applicant for employment, or any District employee, then the Board must consider

that person's status as a condition of employment.

The Superintendent shall ensure that the District does not engage in any investigation or inquiry prohibited by law and complies with each of the following:

1. The District uses an applicant's credit history or report from a consumer reporting agency only when a satisfactory credit history is an established bona fide occupational requirement of a particular position.
2. The District does not screen applicants based on their current or prior wages or salary histories, including benefits or other compensation, by requiring that the wage or salary history satisfy minimum or maximum criteria.
3. The District does not request or require a wage or salary history as a condition of being considered for employment, being interviewed, continuing to be considered for an offer of employment, an offer of employment, or an offer of compensation.
4. The District does not request or require an applicant to disclose wage or salary history as a condition of employment.
5. The District does not ask an applicant or applicant's current or previous employers about wage or salary history, including benefits or other compensation.
6. The District does not ask an applicant or applicant's previous employers about claim(s) made or benefit(s) received under the Workers' Compensation Act.
7. The District does not request of an applicant or employee access in any manner to his or her personal online account, such as social networking websites, including a request for passwords to such accounts.
8. The District provides equal employment opportunities to all persons. See policy 5:10, *Equal Employment Opportunity and Minority Recruitment*.

Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review (EHR)^{PRESSPlus1}

Prior to hiring an applicant for a position involving direct contact with children or students,^{PRESSPlus2}
the Superintendent shall ensure that an EHR is performed as required by State law. When the applicant is a superintendent candidate, the Board President shall ensure that the EHR is initiated before a successful superintendent candidate is offered employment by the Board.

Physical Examinations

Each new employee must furnish evidence of physical fitness to perform assigned duties and freedom from communicable disease. The physical fitness examination must be performed by a physician licensed in Illinois, or any other state, to practice medicine and surgery in any of its branches, a licensed advanced practice registered nurse, or a licensed physician assistant who has been delegated the authority by his or her supervising physician to perform health examinations. The employee must have the physical examination performed no more than 90 days before submitting evidence of it to the District.

Any employee may be required to have an additional examination by a physician who is licensed in Illinois to practice medicine and surgery in all its branches, a licensed advanced practice registered nurse, or a licensed physician assistant who has been delegated the authority by his or her supervising physician to perform health examinations, if the examination is job-related and consistent with business necessity. The Board will pay the expenses of any such examination.

Orientation Program

The District's staff will provide an orientation program for new employees to acquaint them with the District's policies and procedures, the school's rules and regulations, and the responsibilities of their position. Before beginning employment, each employee must sign the *Acknowledgement of Mandated Reporter Status* form as provided in policy 5:90, *Abused and Neglected Child Reporting*.

LEGAL REF.:

[42 U.S.C. §12112](#), Americans with Disabilities Act; [29 C.F.R. Part 1630](#).

[15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.](#), Fair Credit Reporting Act.

[8 U.S.C. §1324a et seq.](#), Immigration Reform and Control Act.

[105 ILCS 5/10-16.7](#), [5/10-20.7](#), [5/10-21.4](#), [5/10-21.9](#), [5/10-22.34](#), [5/10-22.34b](#), [5/21B-10](#), [5/21B-80](#), [5/21B-85](#), [5/22-6.5](#), [5/22-94](#), and [5/24-5](#).

[20 ILCS 2630/3.3](#), Criminal Identification Act.

[820 ILCS 55/](#), Right to Privacy in the Workplace Act.

[820 ILCS 70/](#), Employee Credit Privacy Act.

Duldulao v. St. Mary of Nazareth Hospital, 136 Ill. App. 3d 763 (1st Dist. 1985), *aff'd in part and remanded* 115 Ill.2d 482 (Ill. 1987).

Kaiser v. Dixon, 127 Ill. App. 3d 251 (2nd Dist. 1984).

Molitor v. Chicago Title & Trust Co., 325 Ill. App. 124 (1st Dist. 1945).

CROSS REF.: 2:260 (Uniform Grievance Procedure), 3:50 (Administrative Personnel Other Than the Superintendent), 4:60 (Purchases and Contracts), 4:175 (Convicted Child Sex Offender; Screening; Notifications), 5:10 (Equal Employment Opportunity and Minority Recruitment), 5:40 (Communicable and Chronic Infectious Disease), 5:90 (Abused and Neglected Child Reporting), [5:120 \(Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest\)](#), 5:125 (Personal Technology and Social Media; Usage and Conduct), 5:220 (Substitute Teachers), 5:280 (Duties and Qualifications)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-94, added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23, requiring districts to initiate an EHR prior to hiring an applicant who will have *direct contact with children or students*. See sample administrative procedure 5:30-AP3, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review (EHR)*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com, for the process, timing, and positions requiring an EHR. See policy 4:60, *Purchases and Contracts*, and sample administrative procedure 4:60-AP4, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review (EHR) of Contractor Employees*, for EHR requirements for employees of contractors who have *direct contact with children or students*. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 2. *Direct contact with children or students* is defined as "the possibility of care, supervision, guidance, or control of children or students or routine interaction with children or students." 105 ILCS 5/22-94(b), added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 5 - GENERAL PERSONNEL

5:90 Abused and Neglected Child Reporting

Any District employee who suspects or receives knowledge that a student may be an abused or neglected child shall: (1) immediately report or cause a report to be made to the Ill. Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) on its Child Abuse Hotline 1-800-25-ABUSE (1-800-252-2873) (within Illinois); 1-217-524-2606 (outside of Illinois); or 1-800-358-5117 (TTY), and (2) follow directions given by DCFS concerning filing a written report within 48 hours with the nearest DCFS field office. Any District employee who believes a student is in immediate danger of harm, shall first call 911. The employee shall also promptly notify the Superintendent or Building Principal that a report has been made. The Superintendent or Building Principal shall immediately coordinate any necessary notifications to the student's parent(s)/guardian(s) with DCFS, the applicable school resource officer (SRO), and/or local law enforcement.

Negligent failure to report occurs when a District employee personally observes an instance of suspected child abuse or neglect and reasonably believes, in his or her professional or official capacity, that the instance constitutes an act of child abuse or neglect under the Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act (ANCRA) and he or she, without willful intent, fails to immediately report or cause a report to be made of the suspected abuse or neglect to DCFS.

Any District electronic or IT equipment worker who discovers child pornography on electronic and information technology equipment shall immediately report it to local law enforcement, the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children's CyberTipline 1-800-THE-LOST (1-800-843-5678) or online at report.cybertip.org/ or www.missingkids.org. Any District employee who discovers child pornography shall immediately report it to their supervisors, and that supervisor shall immediately contact local law enforcement in partnership with District administration.

Any District employee who observes any act of hazing that does bodily harm to a student must report that act to the Building Principal, Superintendent, or designee who will investigate and take appropriate action. If the hazing results in death or great bodily harm, the employee must first make the report to law enforcement and then to the Superintendent or Building Principal. Hazing is defined as any intentional, knowing, or reckless act directed to or required of a student for the purpose of being initiated into, affiliating with, holding office in, or maintaining membership in any group, organization, club, or athletic team whose members are or include other students.

Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act (ANCRA), School Code, and *Erin's Law* Training

The Superintendent or designee shall provide staff development opportunities for District employees in the detection, reporting, and prevention of child abuse and neglect.

All District employees shall:

1. Before beginning employment, sign the *Acknowledgement of Mandated Reporter Status* form provided by DCFS. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the signed forms are retained.
2. Complete mandated reporter training as required by law within three months of initial

employment and at least every three years after that date.

3. Complete an annual evidence-informed training related to child sexual abuse, grooming behaviors (including sexual misconduct as defined in Faith's Law, PRESSPlus1 and boundary violations as required by law and policy 5:100, *Staff Development Program*.

The Superintendent or designee will display DCFS-issued materials that list the DCFS toll-free telephone number and methods for making a report under ANCRA in a clearly visible location in each school building.

Alleged Incidents of Sexual Abuse; Investigations

An *alleged incident of sexual abuse* is an incident of sexual abuse of a child, as defined in [720 ILCS 5/11-9.1A](#), that is alleged to have been perpetrated by school personnel, including a school vendor or volunteer, that occurred: on school grounds during a school activity; or outside of school grounds or not during a school activity.

If a District employee reports an alleged incident of sexual abuse to DCFS and DCFS accepts the report for investigation, DCFS will refer the matter to the local Children's Advocacy Center (CAC). The Superintendent or designee will implement procedures to coordinate with the CAC.

DCFS and/or the appropriate law enforcement agency will inform the District when its investigation is complete or has been suspended, as well as the outcome of its investigation. The existence of a DCFS and/or law enforcement investigation will not preclude the District from conducting its own parallel investigation into the alleged incident of sexual abuse in accordance with policy 7:20, *Harassment of Students Prohibited*.

Special Superintendent Responsibilities

The Superintendent shall execute the requirements in Board policy 5:150, *Personnel Records*, whenever another school district requests a reference concerning an applicant who is or was a District employee and was the subject of a report made by a District employee to DCFS.

When the Superintendent has reasonable cause to believe that a license holder (1) committed an intentional act of abuse or neglect with the result of making a child an abused child or a neglected child under ANCRA or an act of sexual misconduct under *Faith's Law, PRESSPlus2* and (2) that act resulted in the license holder's dismissal or resignation from the District, ~~he or she~~ the Superintendent shall notify the State Superintendent and the appropriate Intermediate Service Center Executive Director in writing, providing the Ill. Educator Identification Number as well as a brief description of the misconduct alleged. The Superintendent must make the report within 30 days of the dismissal or resignation and mail a copy of the notification to the license holder.

The Superintendent shall develop procedures for notifying a student's parents/guardians when a District employee, contractor, or agent is alleged to have engaged in sexual misconduct with the student as defined in Faith's Law. The Superintendent shall also develop procedures for notifying the student's parents/guardians when the Board takes action relating to the employment of the employee, contractor, or agent following the investigation of sexual misconduct. Notification shall not occur when the employee, contractor, or agent alleged to have engaged in sexual misconduct is the student's parent/guardian, and/or when the student is at least 18 years of age or emancipated. PRESSPlus3

The Superintendent shall execute the recordkeeping requirements of Faith's Law. PRESSPlus4

Special Board of Education Member Responsibilities

Each individual Board member must, if an allegation is raised to the member during an open or closed Board meeting that a student is an abused child as defined in ANCRA, direct or cause the Board to direct the Superintendent or other equivalent school administrator to comply with ANCRA's requirements concerning the reporting of child abuse.

If the Board determines that any District employee, other than an employee licensed under [105 ILCS 5/21B](#), has willfully or negligently failed to report an instance of suspected child abuse or neglect as required by ANCRA, the Board may dismiss that employee immediately.

When the Board learns that a licensed teacher was convicted of any felony, it must promptly report it to the State agencies listed in policy 2:20, *Powers and Duties of the Board of Education; Indemnification*.

LEGAL REF.:

[20 U.S.C. §7926](#), Elementary and Secondary Education Act.

105 ILCS 5/10-21.9, 5/10-23.13, ~~and~~ [5/21B-85, 5/22-85.5, and 5/22-85.10](#).

[20 ILCS 1305/1-1 et seq.](#), Department of Human Services Act.

[325 ILCS 5/](#), Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act.

[720 ILCS 5/12C-50.1](#), Criminal Code of 2012.

CROSS REF.: 2:20 (Powers and Duties of the Board of Education; Indemnification), 3:40 (Superintendent), 3:50 (Administrative Personnel Other Than the Superintendent), 3:60 (Administrative Responsibility of the Building Principal), [4:60 \(Purchases and Contracts\)](#), 4:165 (Awareness and Prevention of Child Sexual Abuse and Grooming Behaviors), 5:20 (Workplace Harassment Prohibited), 5:30 (Hiring Process and Criteria), 5:100 (Staff Development Program), 5:120 (Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest), 5:150 (Personnel Records), 5:200 (Terms and Conditions of Employment and Dismissal), 5:290 (Employment Termination and Suspensions), 6:120 (Education of Children with Disabilities), 6:250 (Community Resource Persons and Volunteers), 7:20 (Harassment of Students Prohibited), 7:150 (Agency and Police Interviews)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. *Sexual misconduct* under *Faith's Law* defined in 105 ILCS 5/22-85.5(c), added by P.A. 102-676.

The Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act (ANCRA) covers abuse and neglect of children. 325 ILCS 5/3. The Dept. of Human Services Act (DHSA) covers abuse and neglect of adult students with a disability. 20 ILCS 1305/1-17(b). Abuse may be generally understood as any physical or mental injury or sexual abuse inflicted on a child or adult student with a disability other than by accidental means or creation of a risk of such injury or abuse by a person who is responsible for the welfare of a child or adult student with a disability. Neglect may be generally understood as abandoning a child or adult student with a disability or failing to provide the proper support, education, medical, or remedial care required by law by one who is responsible for the child's or adult student with a disability's welfare.

Abuse covered by ANCRA also includes *grooming* as defined in the Ill. Criminal Code of 2012 (720

ILCS 5/11-25). 325 ILCS 5/3(i), added by P.A. 102-676 (*alk/a Faith's Law*).

The School Code goes further and prohibits school employees from engaging in *grooming behaviors* and *sexual misconduct*. 105 ILCS 5/10-23.13(b), amended by P.A. 102-610 (*alk/a Erin's Law*); 105 ILCS 5/22-85.5(c), added by P.A. 102-676 (*alk/a Faith's Law*). To streamline implementation, policy 5:120, *Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest*, defines prohibited *grooming behaviors* to include *sexual misconduct* and it explicitly prohibits employees from engaging in *grooming*, *grooming behaviors*, and *sexual misconduct*. While it is possible for low-level *grooming behaviors* and/or *sexual misconduct* to not amount to grooming prohibited by ANCRA, best practice is to report suspected *grooming behaviors* and *sexual misconduct* to DCFS. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 2. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/10-21.9(e-5), amended by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 3. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-85.10, added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. See sample procedure 5:90-AP2, *Parent/Guardian Notification of Sexual Misconduct*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 4. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-94(e), added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. See sample procedure 5:150-AP, *Personnel Records*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 5 - GENERAL PERSONNEL

5:125 Personal Technology and Social Media; Usage and Conduct

Inappropriate use of personal technology and social media by staff members may interfere with an environment conducive to learning, with the privacy rights of students and fellow staff members, or with the property interests of others, and may create school records not properly available for retention, review or disclosure. To avoid these potential problems, staff members are restricted in their use of personal technology and social networks as directed herein.

Definitions

Staff member – Any employee, school official, or volunteer of the District.

Immediate family members - a parent, legal guardian, step-parent, sibling, grandparent, aunt, uncle, or first cousin.

Social media - Media for social interaction, using highly accessible ~~communication techniques~~ through the use of web-based and/or mobile technologies that allow users to ~~turn communication~~ into share content and/or engage in interactive ~~dialogue~~ communication through online communities. Without limitation, this includes sites such as Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter, Instagram, TikTok, Snapchat, and YouTube. PRESSPlus1 → *ym*

Personal technology - Any device that is not owned or leased by the District or otherwise authorized for District use and which is designed to: (1) transmit sounds, images, text, messages, videos, or electronic information, (2) electronically record, play, or store information, or (3) access the Internet or private communication or information networks. Without limitation, this includes ~~cellular phones,~~ pagers, cameras, recorders, personal digital assistants (PDAs) or smart phones. PRESSPlus2 *mobile*

Rules of Conduct

All staff members who use personal technology and/or social media shall:

1. Adhere to the high standards for **Professional and Appropriate Conduct** required by Policy 5:120, *Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest* at all times, regardless of the ever-changing social media and personal technology platforms available. Do not post images or private information in a manner readily accessible to students and other employees that is inappropriate for those persons to view. Without limitation, this includes content prohibited by ~~P~~olicies 5:20, *Workplace Harassment Prohibited*; 5:100, *Staff Development Program*; 5:120, *Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest*; 6:235, *Access to Electronic Networks*; and 7:20, *Harassment of Students Prohibited*; and the Ill. Code of Educator Ethics, 23 Ill.Admin.Code §22.20. Specifically, do not “friend” students on Facebook or otherwise use social media to establish peer-equivalent relationships with students.
2. Use a District-provided or supported method whenever possible to communicate with staff members, students, and parents/guardians for legitimately school-sponsored functions or for

genuine school purposes. Specifically, do not text or email students through personal accounts using personal technology. Do use District-provided media to communicate with students and parents/guardians regarding school matters.

3. Not interfere with or disrupt the educational or working environment, or the delivery of education or educational support services.
4. Inform their immediate supervisor if a student initiates inappropriate contact with them via any form of personal technology or social media.
5. Report instances of suspected abuse or neglect discovered through the use of social media or personal technology pursuant to a school employee's obligations under policy 5:90, *Abused and Neglected Child Reporting-Child Reporting*.
6. Not disclose ~~student record~~ confidential information, including but not limited to school student records (e.g., student work, photographs of students, names of students, or any other personally identifiable information about students) or personnel records, in compliance with policy 5:130, *Responsibilities Concerning Internal Information*. For District employees, proper approval may include implied consent under the circumstances.
7. Refrain from using the District's logos without permission from the Superintendent or designee and follow ~~P~~ policy 5:170, *General Copyright Restrictions and Copyright Restrictions Involving the Development of Instructional Materials and Computer Programs by Employees*, and all District copyright compliance procedures.
8. Not represent oneself as speaking on behalf of the Board or District; when identifying oneself by relationship to the District, expressly disclaim Board, District or school endorsement of the content.
9. Use personal technology and social media for personal purposes during such times and places that the use will not interfere with job duties or otherwise be disruptive to the school environment or its operation.
10. Assume any and all risks associated with the use of personal technology and social media at school or school-sponsored activities, including students' viewing of inappropriate materials through the staff member's personal technology or social media. The Board expressly disclaims any responsibility for imposing content filters, blocking lists, or monitoring of staff members' personal technology and social media.

Prohibited Use

No staff member may use personal technology or social media in a manner so as to interfere with or be disruptive to the learning or working environment at school or the delivery of educational or educational support services, or to violate the legitimate privacy expectations of students or others. This includes using personal technology or social media to engage in any of the following acts, except as part of a legitimately school-sponsored function, regardless of the time and place of the acts unless otherwise noted:

- Take pictures or video of students
- Record audio of students
- Text students
- E-mail students
- "Friend" students on *Facebook* or similar social networks
- "Tweet" or otherwise communicate with students on *Twitter* or similar social blogging service
- Post images or private information about themselves or others in a manner readily accessible to students and which images or information is inappropriate to share with students

- Post or transmit images or information about a student to another staff member or third party.

D90
insufficient

The uses of personal technology or social media prohibited above do not apply to a student's immediate family members who are staff members, provided that such use is limited to information or images concerning or transmitted to that particular student only, or concerning or transmitted to other students if those other students are included only inadvertently or inconsequentially, and provided that action does not interfere with and is not disruptive to the school environment or the delivery of educational or educational support services, and does not violate the legitimate privacy expectations of others.

Enforcement

A staff member who violates this Ppolicy will be subject to remedial and other appropriate disciplinary action including, but not limited to, prohibiting the staff member from possessing and/or using any personal technology or social media on school grounds, and suspension or termination from employment.

A staff member will not be disciplined for a first-time violation which is inadvertent or inconsequential, but may receive a warning for the first-time violation.

Notice to Employees, Students, Parents, and Community

The Superintendent or designee shall:

1. Inform District employees about this Ppolicy during in-service training(s) annually.
2. Direct Building Principals to provide their building staff members with the following during staff orientation annually:
 - a. A copy of this Ppolicy.
 - b. A reminder about the importance of maintaining high standards in their school relationships.
 - c. A reminder that staff members who violate this Ppolicy will be subject to remedial and any other appropriate disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.
3. Take steps to build awareness of this Ppolicy with students, parents, and the community.
4. Ensure that neither the District, nor anyone on its behalf, commits an act prohibited by the Right to Privacy in the Workplace Act, [820 ILCS 55/10](#); i.e., the *Facebook Password Law*.

Review and Administrative Procedures

The Administration shall periodically review this Ppolicy and any implementing procedures in consultation with staff members for appropriate updating and presenting recommendations for revisions to the Board. The Superintendent may adopt procedures to provide more specific directives, consistent with this Ppolicy, with respect to particular usages, platforms, settings, and exceptions.

LEGAL REF.:

[105 ILCS 5/21B-75](#) and [5/21B-80](#).

[775 ILCS 5/5A-102](#), Ill. Human Rights Act.

[820 ILCS 55/10](#), Right to Privacy in the Workplace Act.

[23 Ill.Admin.Code §22.20](#), Code of Ethics for Ill. Educators.

Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410 (2006).

Pickering v. High School Dist. 205, 391 U.S. 563 (1968).

Mayer v. Monroe County Community School Corp., 474 F.3d 477 (7th Cir. 2007).

CROSS REF.: 4:165 (Awareness and Prevention of Child Sexual Abuse and Grooming Behaviors), 5:20 (Workplace Harassment Prohibited), 5:30 (Hiring Process and Criteria), 5:100 (Staff Development Program), 5:120 (Employee Ethics; Code of Professional Conduct; and Conflict of Interest), 5:150 (Personnel Records), 5:170 (Copyright), 5:200 (Terms and Conditions of Employment and Dismissal), 6:235 (Access to Electronic Networks), 7:20 (Harassment of Students Prohibited), 7:340 (Student Records)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated throughout for continuous improvement. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 2. This policy language is unique to the district. Please consult the author and the **PRESS** sample, available by logging in at www.iasb.com, to determine whether further changes are necessary. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 5 - GENERAL PERSONNEL

5:150 Personnel Records

Maintenance and Access to Records

Please refer to the applicable collective bargaining agreement(s).

For employees not covered by a current applicable bargaining agreement:

The Superintendent or designee shall manage the maintenance of personnel records in accordance with State and federal law and Board of Education policy. Records, as determined by the Superintendent, are retained for all employment applicants, employees, and former employees given the need for the District to document employment-related decisions, evaluate program and staff effectiveness, and comply with government recordkeeping and reporting requirements. Personnel records shall be maintained in the District's administrative office, under the Superintendent's direct supervision.

Access to personnel records is available as follows:

1. An employee will be given access to his or her personnel records according to State law and guidelines developed by the Superintendent.
2. An employee's supervisor or other management employee who has an employment or business-related reason to inspect the record is authorized to have access.
3. Anyone having the respective employee's written consent may have access.
4. Access will be granted to anyone authorized by State or federal law to have access.
5. All other requests for access to personnel information are governed by Board policy 2:250, *Access to District Public Records*.

Prospective Employer Inquiries Concerning a Current or Former Employee's Job Performance

The Superintendent or designee shall manage a process for responding to inquiries by a prospective employer concerning a current or former employee's job performance. The Superintendent shall:

1. Execute the requirements in the Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act whenever another school district asks for a reference concerning an applicant who is or was a District employee and was the subject of a report made by a District employee to Ill. Dept. of Children and Family Services (DCFS); and
2. Comply with the federal law prohibiting the District from providing a recommendation of employment for an employee, contractor, or agent that District knows, or has probable cause to believe, has engaged in sexual misconduct with a student or minor in violation of the law, but the Superintendent or designee may follow routine procedures regarding the transmission of administrative or personnel files for that employee.
3. Manage the District's responses to employer requests for sexual misconduct related employment history review (EHR) information in accordance with *Faith's Law*. [PRESSPlus1](#)

When requested for information about an employee by an entity other than a prospective employer, the District will only confirm position and employment dates unless the employee has submitted a written request to the Superintendent or designee.

LEGAL REF.:

[20 U.S.C. §7926.](#)

[105 ILCS 5/22-94.](#)

[325 ILCS 5/4,](#) Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act.

[745 ILCS 46/10,](#) Employment Record Disclosure Act.

[820 ILCS 40/,](#) Personnel Record Review Act.

[23 Ill.Admin.Code §1.660.](#)

CROSS REF.: 2:250 (Access to District Public Records), 5:90 (Abused and Neglected Child Reporting), 7:340 (Student Records)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated in response to 105 ILCS 5/22-94(e), added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 5 - GENERAL PERSONNEL

5:260 Student Teachers

The Superintendent is authorized to accept students from university-approved teacher-training programs to do student teaching in the District. No individual who has been convicted of a criminal offense that would subject him or her to license suspension or revocation pursuant to Section [5/21B-80](#) of the School Code [PRESSPlus1](#) or who has been found to be the perpetrator of sexual or physical abuse of a minor under 18 years of age pursuant to proceedings under Article II of the Juvenile Court Act of 1987 is permitted to student teach.

Before permitting an individual to student teach or begin a required internship in the District, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that:

1. The District performed a [105 ILCS 5/10-21.9\(g\) Check](#) as described below; and
2. The individual furnished evidence of physical fitness to perform assigned duties and freedom from communicable disease pursuant to [105 ILCS 5/24-5](#).

A [105 ILCS 5/10-21.9\(g\) Check](#) shall include:

1. Fingerprint-based checks through (a) the Illinois State Police (ISP) for criminal history records information (CHRI) pursuant to the Uniform Conviction Information Act ([20 ILCS 2635/1](#)), and (b) the FBI national crime information databases pursuant to the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act ([P.L. 109-248](#));
2. A check of the Illinois Sex Offender Registry (see the Sex Offender Community Notification Law ([730 ILCS 152/101 et seq.](#)); and
3. A check of the Illinois Murderer and Violent Offender Against Youth Registry (Murderer and Violent Offender Against Youth ~~Community Notification Law~~ Registration Act ([730 ILCS 154/75-105](#)).

The School Code requires each individual student teaching or beginning a required internship to provide the District with written authorization for, and pay the costs of, his or her [105 ILCS 5/10-21.9\(g\)](#) check (including any applicable vendor's fees). Upon receipt of this authorization and payment, the Superintendent or designee will submit the student teacher's name, sex, race, date of birth, social security number, fingerprint images, and other identifiers, as prescribed by the ~~Department of Ill. State Police (ISP)~~, to the ~~Department of State Police~~ [ISP](#). The Superintendent or designee will provide each student teacher with a copy of his or her report.

Assignment

The Superintendent or designee shall be responsible for coordinating placements of all student teachers within the District. Student teachers should be assigned to supervising teachers whose qualifications are acceptable to the District and the students' respective colleges or universities.

LEGAL REF.:

[34 U.S.C. §20901 et seq.](#), Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act, P.L. 109-248.

~~Uniform Conviction Information Act, 20 ILCS 2635/1. Uniform Conviction Information Act.~~

105 ILCS 5/10-21.9, 5/10-22.34, and 5/24-5.

CROSS REF.: 4:175 (Convicted Child Sex Offender; Screening; Notifications), 5:190 (Teacher Qualifications)

Adopted: January 23, 2023

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Consult the board attorney for guidance regarding whether student teachers or interns, who are typically unpaid, qualify as *employees* who must also undergo the sexual misconduct related employment history review (EHR) required by 105 ILCS 5/22-94, added by P.A. 102-702, eff. 7-1-23. Whether or not a student or intern is paid by a district may be determinative. See 5:30-AP3, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review(EHR)*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com. If a district has an agreement with a post-secondary institution for the placement of student interns, consult the board attorney regarding whether the institution qualifies as a contractor under 105 ILCS 5/22-94(b) that must perform an EHR of the intern. See 4:60-AP4, *Sexual Misconduct Related Employment History Review(EHR) of Contractor Employees*. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 6 - INSTRUCTION

6:135 Accelerated Placement Program

The District provides an Accelerated Placement Program (APP). The APP advances the District's goal of providing educational programs with opportunities for each student to develop to his or her maximum potential. The APP provides an educational setting with curriculum options usually reserved for students who are older or in higher grades than the student participating in the APP. APP options include, but may not be limited to: (a) accelerating a student in a single subject; (b) other grade-level acceleration; and (c) early entrance to kindergarten or first grade. Participation in the APP is open to all students who demonstrate high ability and who may benefit from accelerated placement. It is not limited to students who have been identified as gifted and talented. Eligibility to participate in the District's APP shall not be conditioned upon the protected classifications identified in Board policy 7:10, *Equal Educational Opportunities*, or any factor other than the student's identification as an accelerated learner.

The Superintendent or designee shall implement an APP that includes:

1. Decision-making processes that are fair, equitable, and involve multiple individuals, e.g. District administrators, teachers, and school support personnel, and a student's parent(s)/guardian(s);
2. Notification processes that notify a student's parent(s)/guardian(s) of a decision affecting a student's participation in the APP; and
3. Assessment processes that include multiple valid, reliable indicators; ~~and~~
4. ~~By the fall of 2023, the automatic enrollment, in the following school term, of a student into the next most rigorous level of advanced coursework offered by the high school if the student meets or exceeds State standards in English language arts, mathematics, or science on a State assessment administered under 105 ILCS 5/2-3.64a-5, as follows:~~ PRESSPlus1
 - a. ~~A student who meets or exceeds State standards in English language arts shall be automatically enrolled into the next most rigorous level of advanced coursework in English, social studies, humanities, or related subjects.~~
 - b. ~~A student who meets or exceeds State standards in mathematics shall be automatically enrolled into the next most rigorous level of advanced coursework in mathematics.~~
 - c. ~~A student who meets or exceeds State standards in science shall be automatically enrolled into the next most rigorous level of advanced coursework in science.~~

The Superintendent or designee shall annually notify the community, parent(s)/guardian(s), students, and school personnel about the APP, the process for referring a student for possible evaluation for accelerated placement, and the methods used to determine whether a student is eligible for accelerated placement, including strategies to reach groups of students and families who have been historically underrepresented in accelerated placement programs and advanced coursework. Notification may: (a) include varied communication methods, such as student handbooks and District or school websites; and (b) be provided in multiple languages, as appropriate.

LEGAL REF.:

[105 ILCS 5/14A.](#)

23 Ill.Admin.Code Part 227, Gifted Education.

CROSS REF.: 6:10 (Educational Philosophy and Objectives), 6:130 (Program for the Gifted), 7:10 (Equal Educational Opportunities), 7:50 (School Admissions and Student Transfers To and From Non-District Schools)

Adopted: February 22, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Updated in response to ISBE's *Accelerated Placement Policy Guidance for Districts Frequently Asked Questions* (September 2022), at: www.isbe.net/Documents/Accelerated-Placement-Act-FAQ.pdf, which asserts this provision is limited to “[d]istricts with grades 9-12.” **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Review and Monitoring

Section 6 - INSTRUCTION

6:210 Instructional Materials

All District classrooms and learning centers shall have access to teaching tools, textbooks, workbooks, audio-visual materials, technology, and equipment to meet the students' needs. The term instructional materials means both print and non-print materials, including electronic materials accessed through the Internet or the cloud that are used in the educational process. The term "textbook" includes electronic or digital textbooks that are used for educational purposes. Textbooks and instructional materials shall provide effective learning experiences for students and: [PRESSPlus1](#)

1. Enrich and support the curriculum;
2. Stimulate growth in knowledge, literary appreciation, aesthetic values, ethical standards;
3. Provide background information to enable students to make intelligent judgments;
4. Present opposing sides of controversial issues;
5. Be representative of the many religious, ethnic, and cultural groups and their contributions to our American heritage; and
6. Depict in an accurate and unbiased way the cultural diversity and pluralistic nature of American society.

A list or description of textbooks and instructional materials used in the District shall be revised by administrators under the Superintendent's direction and shall be made available to the Board and professional staff as a reference. Upon reasonable notice, anyone may inspect any textbook or instructional material.

No R-rated movie shall be shown to students unless prior approval is received from the Building Principal, and no NC-17 movie shall be shown under any circumstances. The Superintendent or designee shall give parents/guardians an opportunity to request that their child not participate in a class showing a movie, television program, or other media with an R or equivalent rating.

Technology

It is the Board of Education's philosophy that technology and electronic materials must be used as a tool to support and enhance learning, and not a replacement for instruction, interactive learning experiences, or in-person interactions between teachers and students and between peers within the school environment. Instruction shall include a variety of experiences consistent with the developmental levels and needs of the students. Technology and electronic materials shall not be used as the sole learning tool, except where the purposes of the class/lesson is to provide instruction on the use of technology or electronic materials, as required by a student's IEP or Section 504 plan, or as otherwise required by law.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide ongoing professional development for faculty and staff about the optimal use of technology and electronic materials as instructional materials.

Instructional Materials Selection and Adoption

The selection of all textbooks and instructional materials shall be made according to the standards

described in this Policy. The School Code governs the adoption and purchase of textbooks and instructional materials.

LEGAL REF.:

[105 ILCS 5/10-20.8](#) and [5/28-19.1](#).

CROSS REF.: 6:220 (Instructional Materials Selection and Adoption), 7:10 (Equal Educational Opportunities), 8:110 (Public Suggestions and Concerns).

ADOPTED: November 20, 2017

REVISED: January 16, 2018

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. This policy is suggested to be reviewed by the Board. According to policy 2:240, *Board Policy Development*, "[t]he Board will periodically review its policies for relevancy, monitor its policies for effectiveness, and consider whether any modifications are required." IASB suggests that each policy in the Board's policy manual be reviewed at a minimum of every five years. As part of the review, the Board may choose to:

- Compare the adopted version to the current PRESS sample (available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com), discussing any differences and/or options noted in the footnotes to determine whether local changes are necessary
- Update the policy language due to changes in local conditions
- Make no changes, but update the adoption date to reflect that the policy has been reviewed and re-adopted

Issue 111, March 2023

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 6 - INSTRUCTION

6:230 Library Media Program

The Superintendent or designee shall manage the District's library media program to comply with, (1) State law and Ill. State Board of Education (ISBE) rule, and (2) the following standards:

1. The program includes an organized collection of resources available to students and staff to supplement classroom instruction, foster reading for pleasure, enhance information literacy, and support research, as appropriate to students of all abilities in the grade levels served.
2. Financial resources for the program's resources and supplies are allocated to meet students' needs.
3. Students in all grades served have equitable access to library media resources.
4. The advice of an individual who is qualified according to ISBE rule is sought regarding the overall direction of the program, including the selection and organization of materials, provision of instruction in information and technology literacy, and structuring the work of library paraprofessionals.
5. Staff members are invited to recommend additions to the collection.
6. Students may freely select resource center materials as well as receive guided selection of materials appropriate to specific, planned learning experiences.
7. The program is guided by the principles of the American Library Association's *Library Bill of Rights* and its interpretation for school libraries.[PRESSPlus1](#)

Parents/guardians, employees, and community members who believe that library media program resources violate rights guaranteed by any law or Board policy may file a complaint using Board policy 2:260, *Uniform Grievance Procedure*.[PRESSPlus2](#)

The Superintendent or designee shall establish criteria consistent with this policy for the review of objections. Parents/guardians, employees, and community members with suggestions or complaints about library media program resources may complete a ~~Library Media Resource Objection Form~~. The Superintendent or designee shall inform the parent/guardian, employee, or community member, as applicable, of the District's decision.[PRESSPlus3](#)

LEGAL REF:

[23 Ill.Admin.Code §1.420\(o\)](#).

*Request for Reconsideration of
Library Materials Form.*

CROSS REF.: 6:60 (Curriculum Content), 6:170 (Title I Programs), 6:210 (Instructional Materials)

Adopted: August 20, 2018

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Optional. The American Library Association's (ALA) *Library Bill of Rights* includes the following:

1. Books and other library resources should be provided for the interest, information, and enlightenment of all people of the community the library serves. Materials should not be excluded because of the origin, background, or views of those contributing to their creation.
2. Libraries should provide materials and information presenting all points of view on current and historical issues. Materials should not be proscribed or removed because of partisan or doctrinal disapproval.
3. Libraries should challenge censorship in the fulfillment of their responsibility to provide information and enlightenment.
4. Libraries should cooperate with all persons and groups concerned with resisting abridgment of free expression and free access to ideas.
5. A person's right to use a library should not be denied or abridged because of origin, age, background, or views.
6. Libraries which make exhibit spaces and meeting rooms available to the public they serve should make such facilities available on an equitable basis, regardless of the beliefs or affiliations of individuals or groups requesting their use.
7. All people, regardless of origin, age, background, or views, possess a right to privacy and confidentiality in their library use.
8. Libraries should advocate for, educate about, and protect people's privacy, safeguarding all library use data, including personally identifiable information.

See <https://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/librarybill> and its interpretation for school libraries at: <https://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/librarybill/interpretations/accessresources>. The ALA's interpretation of its *Library Bill of Rights* acknowledges that the educational level and program of the school necessarily shape the resources and services of a school library, but it states that the principles of the *Library Bill of Rights* apply equally to all libraries, including school libraries. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 2. Limiting the scope of complainants in this policy to parents/guardians, employees, and community members aligns with sample policy 2:260, *Uniform Grievance Procedure*. **Issue 111, March 2023**

PRESSPlus 3. Updated in response to subscriber and Ill. Council of School Attorneys member feedback regarding management of library book challenges. The issue of school library book removals is an unsettled area of law that is often litigated; consult the board attorney for advice regarding challenges to school library books or other library resources. In the only U.S. Supreme Court case to address this issue, *Island Trees Union Free Sch. Dist. No. 26 v. Pico*, 457 U.S. 852 (1982), the Court issued a plurality (not a majority) opinion finding a board could not remove books it had characterized as "anti-American, anti-Christian, anti-Semitic, and just plain filthy," if the removal was motivated by partisan or political reasons; to do so would violate students' Constitutional right to receive information and ideas. Four dissenting justices, however, disagreed that students have a right to receive information and ideas under the First Amendment and would have deferred to the judgment of the local school board.

See sample administrative procedure 6:230-AP, *Responding to Complaints About Library Media Resources*, and sample exhibit 6:230-AP, E, *Library Media Resource Objection Form*, available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com. **Issue 111, March 2023**

RIVER FOREST DISTRICT 90
Request for Reconsideration of Instructional Materials or Equipment

Name: _____ Date: _____
Address: _____ City: _____ Zip Code: _____
Phone: _____ Email: _____

Representation: Student Parent Organization/Group Community Member
 Other _____

School: _____ Subject Area: _____ Teacher Name: _____

Type of Material/Equipment (Book, Video, etc.): _____

Title or Name of Material/Equipment: _____

Author/Publisher (if applicable): _____

1. How did you become aware of the item? _____

2. Did you personally view or review the item in question? _____

3. Describe the reason for your objection. Please be specific and cite specific examples. _____

4. What is your interpretation of the teacher or instructor's purpose for using this material, and what do you believe is the theme or purpose of this material? _____

5. What is your recommendation in terms of the use of the material or equipment?
 Do not assign or recommend it to my child Withdraw use from all individuals
 Ask for reevaluation by the staff Other (please respond below)

6. In its place, what materials of similar value do you suggest to meet the intended instructional objective? _____

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 7 - STUDENTS

7:70 Attendance and Truancy

Compulsory School Attendance

This policy applies to individuals who have custody or control of a child: (a) between the ages of six (on or before September 1) and 17 years (unless the child has graduated from high school), or (b) who is enrolled in any of grades kindergarten through ~~8-12~~ in the public school regardless of age.

Subject to specific requirements in State law, the following children are not required to attend public school: (1) any child attending a private school (including a home school) or parochial school, (2) any child who is physically or mentally unable to attend school (including a pregnant student suffering medical complications as certified by her physician), (3) any child lawfully and necessarily employed, (4) any child over 12 and under 14 years of age while in confirmation classes, and (5) any child absent because of religious reasons, including to observe a religious holiday, for religious instruction, or because his or her religion forbids secular activity on a particular day(s) or time of day, and (6) any child 16 years of age or older who is employed and is enrolled in a graduation incentives program. PRESSPlus1

The parent/guardian of a student who is enrolled must authorize all absences from school and notify the school in advance or at the time of the student's absence. A valid cause for absence includes illness (including mental or behavioral health of the student), observance of a religious holiday, death in the immediate family, attendance at a civic event, family emergency, other situations beyond the control of the student as determined by the Board, ~~voting pursuant to policy 7:90, Release During School Hours (IO ILCS 5/7-42 and 5/17-15).~~ PRESSPlus2 other circumstances that cause reasonable concern to the parent/guardian for the student's mental, emotional, or physical health or safety, or other reason as approved by the Superintendent or designee. Students absent for a valid cause may make up missed homework and classwork assignments in a reasonable timeframe.

Absenteeism and Truancy Program

The Superintendent or designee shall manage an absenteeism and truancy program in accordance with the School Code and School Board policy. The program shall include but not be limited to:

1. A protocol for excusing a student from attendance who is necessarily and lawfully employed. The Superintendent or designee is authorized to determine when the student's absence is justified.
2. A protocol for excusing a student in grades 6 through 12 from attendance to sound *Taps* at a military honors funeral held in Illinois for a deceased veteran.
3. A protocol for excusing a student from attendance on a particular day(s) or at a particular time of day when his/her parent/guardian is an active duty member of the uniformed services and has been called to duty for, is on leave from, or has immediately returned from deployment to a combat zone or combat-support postings.
4. A process to telephone, within two hours after the first class, the parents/guardians of students in grade 8 or below who are absent without prior parent/guardian notification.
5. A process to identify and track students who are truants, chronic or habitual truants, or truant

minors as defined in [105 ILCS 5/26-2a](#).

6. A description of diagnostic procedures for identifying the cause(s) of a student's unexcused absenteeism, including interviews with the student, his or her parent(s)/guardian(s), and staff members or other people who may have information about the reasons for the student's attendance problem.
7. The identification of supportive services that may be offered to truant, chronically truant, or chronically absent students, including parent-teacher conferences, student and/or family counseling, or information about community agency services. See Board policy 6:110, *Programs for Students At Risk of Academic Failure and/or Dropping Out of School and Graduation Incentives Program*.
8. A process for the collection and review of chronic absence data and to:
 - a. Determine what systems of support and resources are needed to engage chronically absent students and their families, and
 - b. Encourage the habit of daily attendance and promote success.
9. Reasonable efforts to provide ongoing professional development to teachers, administrators, Board members, school resource officers, and staff on the appropriate and available supportive services for the promotion of student attendance and engagement.
10. A process to request the assistance and resources of outside agencies, such as, the juvenile officer of the local police department or the truant office of the appropriate Regional Office of Education, if truancy continues after supportive services have been offered.
11. A protocol for cooperating with non-District agencies including County or municipal authorities, the Regional Superintendent, truant officers, the Community Truancy Review Board, and a comprehensive community based youth service agency. Any disclosure of school student records must be consistent with Board policy 7:340, *Student Records*, as well as State and federal law concerning school student records.
12. An acknowledgement that no punitive action, including out-of-school suspensions, expulsions, or court action, shall be taken against a truant minor for his or her truancy unless available supportive services and other school resources have been provided to the student.
13. The criteria to determine whether a student's non-attendance is due to extraordinary circumstances shall include economic or medical necessity or family hardship and such other criteria that the Superintendent believes qualifies.
14. ~~A process for a 17-year-old resident to participate in the District's various programs and resources for truant. The student must provide documentation of his/her dropout status for the previous six months. A request from an individual 19 years of age or older to re-enroll after having dropped out of school is handled according to provisions in 7:50, *School Admissions and Student Transfers To and From Non-District Schools*.~~
15. ~~A process for the temporary exclusion of a student 17 years of age or older for failing to meet minimum attendance standards according to provisions in State law. A parent/guardian has the right to appeal a decision to exclude a student.~~ [PRESSPlus3](#)

Monitoring

Pursuant to State law and policy 2:240, *Board Policy Development*, the Board updates this policy at least once every two years. The Superintendent or designee shall assist the Board with its update.

LEGAL REF.:

[105 ILCS 5/22-92](#) and [5/26-1 through 18](#).

[705 ILCS 405/3-33.5](#), Juvenile Court Act of 1987.

23 Ill. Admin.Code §§1.242 and 1.290.

CROSS REF.: 5:100 (Staff Development Program), 6:150 (Home and Hospital Instruction), 7:10 (Equal Educational Opportunities), 7:50 (School Admissions and Student Transfers To and From Non-District Schools), 7:60 (Residence), 7:80 (Release Time for Religious Instruction/Observance), ~~7:90 (Release During School Hours)~~, 7:190 (Student Behavior), 7:340 (Student Records)

Adopted: December 19, 2022

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. Intended for high school and unit districts only. See PRESS sample policy 7:70, *Attendance and Truancy*.

PRESSPlus 2. Intended for high school or unit districts. See f/n 5 of PRESS Sample policy 7:70, *Attendance and Truancy*.

PRESSPlus 3. Intended for high school and unit districts only. See PRESS sample policy 7:70, *Attendance and Truancy*.

Document Status: Draft Update

Section 8 - COMMUNITY RELATIONS

8:20 Community Use of School Facilities

School facilities may be made available to the community for educational, civic, cultural, and other non-commercial uses consistent with the public interest when such use does not interfere with the school program or school-sponsored activities and does not impair or place undue wear or strain on school facilities, and is otherwise consistent with the District's Mission. The use of school facilities for school purposes has precedence over all other uses. The District reserves the right to cancel previously scheduled use of facilities by community organizations and other groups. The use of school facilities requires the prior approval of the Superintendent or designee and is subject to applicable procedures.

It is the responsibility of all persons or organizations using school facilities to ensure that participants are aware of and comply with the District's conduct rules at all times.

Community and school-related organizations directly connected with the District are granted the use of school facilities at no cost during regularly staffed hours. Facilities and grounds will not be made available to individuals for personal or social reasons or to business enterprises for commercial gain. All non-school sponsored groups, before using the facilities during non-regularly staffed hours, must provide a certificate of insurance naming the District as an *additional insured* or otherwise show proof of insurance. Local village non-profit organizations that use the facilities to conduct educational or recreational programs for local children or adults are also granted the use of school facilities at no cost during regularly staffed hours. Fees and costs shall apply during non-regularly staffed hours and to other organizations granted use of facilities at all times as recommended by the Superintendent and approved by the Board of Education, if necessary.

The Superintendent shall develop procedures to manage community use of school facilities. Use of school facilities requires the Superintendent's approval and is subject to the procedures.

LEGAL REF.: [PRESSPlus1](#)

~~Boy Scouts of America Equal Access Act, 20 U.S.C. §7905.~~ [Boy Scouts of America Equal Access Act.](#)

10 ILCS ~~5/11-4.19-2.2~~, [Election Code.](#)

105 ILCS 5/10-20.4~~10~~, 5/10-22.10, and 5/29-3.5.

~~121 S.Ct. 2093~~ [Good News Club v. Milford Central School, 353 U.S. 98](#) (2001).

~~113 S.Ct. 2141~~ [Lamb's Chapel v. Center Moriches Union Free School District, 508 U.S. 384](#) (1993).

[Rosenberger v. Rector and Visitors of Univ. of Va.](#), 515 U.S. 819 (1995).

CROSS REF.: ~~4:30 (School District Philosophy)~~, 8:25 (Advertising and Distributing Materials in Schools Provided by Non-School Related Entities), 8:30 (Conduct on School Property)

~~ADOPTED: June 17, 2013~~

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. The Legal References are updated. **Issue 111, March 2023**

Document Status: Review and Monitoring

Section 8 - COMMUNITY RELATIONS

8:70 Accommodating Individuals with Disabilities

Individuals with disabilities shall be provided an opportunity to participate in all school-sponsored services, programs, or activities and will not be subject to illegal discrimination. When appropriate, the District may provide to persons with disabilities aids, benefits, or services that are separate or different from, but as effective as, those provided to others. [PRESSPlus1](#)

The District will provide auxiliary aids and services where necessary to afford individuals with disabilities equal opportunity to participate in or enjoy the benefits of a service, program, or activity.

Each service, program, website, or activity operated in existing facilities shall be readily accessible to, and useable by, individuals with disabilities. New construction and alterations to facilities existing before January 26, 1992, will be accessible when viewed in their entirety.

The Superintendent or designee is designated the Title II Coordinator and shall:

1. Oversee the District's compliance efforts, recommend necessary modifications to the School Board, and maintain the District's final Title II self-evaluation document, update it to the extent necessary, and keep it available for public inspection for at least three years after its completion date.
2. Institute plans to make information regarding Title II's protection available to any interested party.

Individuals with disabilities should notify the Superintendent or Building Principal if they have a disability that will require special assistance or services and, if so, what services are required. This notification should occur as far in advance as possible of the school-sponsored function, program, or meeting.

Individuals with disabilities may allege a violation of this policy or federal law by reporting it to the Superintendent or designated Title II Coordinator, or by filing a grievance under the Uniform Grievance Procedure.

Individuals with disabilities may allege a violation of this policy or federal law by reporting it to the Superintendent, as the Title II Coordinator, or by filing a grievance under the Uniform Grievance Procedure.

LEGAL REF.:

Americans with Disabilities Act, [42 U.S.C. §§12101 et seq.](#) and [12131 et seq.](#); [28 C.F.R. Part 35.](#)

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 §104, [29 U.S.C. §794](#) (2006).

[105 ILCS 5/10-20.51.](#)

[410 ILCS 25/](#), Environmental Barriers Act.

[71 Ill.Admin.Code Part 400](#), Illinois Accessibility Code.

CROSS REF.: 2:260 (Uniform Grievance Procedure), 4:150 (Facility Management and Building Programs)

ADOPTED: November 20, 2017

PRESSPlus Comments

PRESSPlus 1. This policy is suggested to be reviewed by the Board. According to policy 2:240, *Board Policy Development*, "[t]he Board will periodically review its policies for relevancy, monitor its policies for effectiveness, and consider whether any modifications are required." IASB suggests that each policy in the Board's policy manual be reviewed at a minimum of every five years. As part of the review, the Board may choose to:

- Compare the adopted version to the current PRESS sample (available at PRESS Online by logging in at www.iasb.com), discussing any differences and/or options noted in the footnotes to determine whether local changes are necessary
- Update the policy language due to changes in local conditions
- Make no changes, but update the adoption date to reflect that the policy has been reviewed and re-adopted

Issue 111, March 2023